RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEAOS5

APPEAL NO.: 14-AP-001938 WISCONSIN

NEW RICHMOND NEWS and STEVEN DZUBAY,

Plaintiff-Respondents,

٧.

CITY OF NEW RICHMOND,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from St. Croix County Circuit Court The Honorable Howard W. Cameron, Presiding St. Croix County Case No. 13-CV-000163

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT CITY OF NEW RICHMOND

REMZY D. BITAR
State Bar No: 1038340
TIMOTHY M. JOHNSON
State Bar No. 1052888
SAMANTHA R. SCHMID
State Bar No. 1096315
CRIVELLO CARLSON, S.C.
710 North Plankinton Avenue, Suite 500
Phone (414) 271-7722
Fax (414) 271-4438
rbitar@crivellocarlson.com
tjohnson@crivellocarlson.com
sschmid@crivellocarlson.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. May law enforcement redact "personal information" or "highly restricted personal information" from motor vehicle records in response to a public records request where the requester does not specify an applicable exception to access under the federal Driver's Privacy Protection Act?

Answered by Circuit Court: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Court should grant oral argument and publish its decision. This appeal raises important legal issues regarding the interplay between the federal Driver's Privacy Protection Act and Wisconsin's Public Records Law. Oral argument will assist the Court and a published decision will guide municipalities, citizens, and litigants regarding these pervasive issues.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE

"Concerned that personal information collected by States in the licensing of motor vehicle drivers was being released – even sold – with resulting loss of privacy for many persons, Congress provided federal statutory protection. It enacted the Driver's Privacy Protection Act of 1994, referred to here as the DPPA." *Maracich v. Spears*, 133 S.Ct. 2191, 2195 (2013).

The DPPA creates a federal cause of action for knowingly obtaining, disclosing, or using personal information obtained from a state Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) for a purpose not permitted under the statute. **18 U.S.C. § 2724(a).**

As the Seventh Circuit admonished in *Senne v. Village of Palatine*, 695 F.3d 597, 607 (7th Cir. 2012), municipalities face serious penalties through unlawful disclosure of personal information contained in DMV records.

Without identifying an applicable exception under the DPPA, New Richmond News and its publisher, Steven Dzubay (hereafter "Newspaper"), sought access to personal information contained in such records from the City of New Richmond Police Department. The Department denied access to unredacted reports because *Senne* warned

about disclosing such information and because the request actually sought protected information without a lawful permissible purpose. The Newspaper sued claiming Wisconsin's Public Records Law allowed unfettered access.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

New Richmond News filed this lawsuit in St. Croix County Circuit Court on March 18, 2013.

On November 27, 2013, after the City's unsuccessful removal of the case to the Federal Court, New Richmond News moved for judgment on the pleadings. The Honorable Howard Cameron held a hearing on January 23, 2014. The court granted the Newspapers' motion in its Decision and Order on March 20, 2014 and granted fees and costs in its Judgment on July 2, 2014.

The City timely filed this appeal on August 15, 2014.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Prior to this lawsuit, requesters including news organizations freely obtained from municipalities "personal information" and "highly restricted personal information" contained in motor vehicle records like accident reports. As discussed below, producing this information without redactions stemmed from the Wisconsin Attorney General's Informal Opinion in 2008 analyzing the DPPA in favor of such

disclosures. Since 20012, due to new federal precedent, Wisconsin municipalities proceed cautiously and in some cases redact personal information.

I. Newspaper's Request

New Richmond News is a media company which produces a weekly newspaper and website. **R.1:3 (Complaint p. 1)**.

The Newspaper sent a letter on January 15, 2013, to the Police Department requesting copies of accident reports, citations, and incident reports. R.1:4-5 (Compl. pp. 2-3, Exhibit A). Without identifying an applicable DPPA exception (or "permissible use"), the Newspaper sought unredacted copies. Id. Realizing it actually sought protected information within those reports, the Newspaper nevertheless had "a difference of opinion on interpretation" of the Seventh Circuit decision Senne v. Village of Palantine "under which your department practices have changed on the belief that release of certain public records would now be in deference to the [DPPA]." R.1:4-5 (Compl. p. 2-3, Exs. A, B). The Newspaper stated "accident and incident reports and citations issued by your department remain open records which should be readily accessible to members of the public without need for prior redaction of certain information by law enforcement." *Id.* (emphasis added).

The Police Department's January 21, 2013 response discussed the "TRACS System" computer program allows police officers to fill out accident reports while in their squad cars. R.1:5 (Compl. p. 3, Ex. B). The program retrieves "personal information" and "highly restricted personal information" on drivers involved in an accident from DMV records and automatically populates the accident report with this information. /d.

Citations are also produced using the TRACS System. Police officers can issue "uniform traffic citations" and "non-uniformed (sic) traffic citations" through this TRACS program. R.1:5 (Compl. p. 3, Ex. B). The program automatically populates "personal information" on citations from information contained in DMV records. *Id.*

Like the information officers use in filling out accident reports and citations, officers include individuals' "personal information" in incident reports that is obtained through DMV records. *Id.*

The Police Department's response explained the Seventh Circuit's *Senne* decision controlled its response and "change[d] Wisconsin's open records law" regarding how the Department could handle the Newspaper's request. R.1:5 (Compl. p. 3, Ex. B). "I will advise you at this time, as a result of this decision, the policy of the New Richmond Police Department has changed, in what information

we can release ..." *Id.* "At this point in time I am going to have to deny your request for copies of all un-redacted accidents and citations issued by this Department, based on the decision of [*Senne*] pertaining to the release of 'Personal Information' and 'Highly Restricted Personal Information' obtained through the Wisconsin DMV." *Id.*

While the Police Chief was "content" in releasing such information as he had done in the past under the "public's right to know," he nevertheless believed he had an obligation to follow *Senne* before releasing such information. *Id.* Accordingly, he denied the Newspaper's request for unredacted records. *Id.*

On January 30, 2013, the Newspaper requested the Police Department follow the Wisconsin Attorney General's 2008 Informal Opinion on the subject. R.1:5 (Compl. p.3, Ex. C, pp. 1-4). The Newspaper also argued the Seventh Circuit's *Senne* decision was not binding. R.1:5 (Compl. p.3, Ex. C, p. 2). The Newspaper lastly contended the City's interpretation of *Senne* and the DPPA led to absurd results because records access would depend on whether an individual was licensed and thus in the DMV's database. R.1:5 (Compl. p.3, Ex. C, p. 3). The Newspaper asked the Police Chief to "reconsider his interpretation of *Senne* and, consistent with the attorney general's opinion, disclose the records ... without redacting any personal

information based on the DPPA." R.1:5 (Compl. p.3, Ex. C, pp. 3-4).

The Police Department provided the requested reports with redactions of "personal information." R.1:5 (Compl. p. 3, Exs. C-E). In response, the Newspaper sued the City under Wisconsin's Public Records Law, alleging the City's position – that the DPPA requires redaction of "personal information" (as defined under the DPPA) from records before disclosure – violates the Public Records Law. R.1.

Subsequently, the Newspaper filed for judgment on the pleadings on the basis that the City violated the Public Records Law when it redacted personal information from the requested records. **R.9**, **10**.

II. Circuit Court's Decision

The Circuit Court first held *Senne* is factually and legally distinguishable because it did not address the application of the DPPA in connection with the Public Records Law. **R.14:6.**

In looking next at the DPPA's fourteen exceptions – none of which involved public records laws – the Circuit Court focused on the first exception, coining it an "umbrella." Specifically, the Circuit Court held "the umbrella § 2721(b)(1)" – which allows disclosure for use by any government agency in carrying out its functions – applied here.

R.14:7. The court explained the records related directly to the affairs of

government and the official acts of police officers responding to and reporting on specific events in the City. *Id.* Also, it is an official act of the City to provide such records. *Id.*

The court further held the DPPA's fourteenth exception "provides a broad exception" and applied here. *Id.* Section 2721(b)(14) allows access for uses authorized under the law of the state that holds the record if such use is related to the operation of a motor vehicle or public safety. *Id.* This exception was satisfied by Wis. Stat. § 346.70 (4), the Uniform Traffic Accident Reports provision, which requires disclosure of accident reports upon request. *Id.* The court reasoned such disclosure was "directly related to the public safety of the city as enforced by the police department and other agencies." *Id.*

Finally, the court ruled "two of the three requested reports are uniform traffic accident reports, which do not fit the statutory definition of 'personal information' under § 2725(3)." *Id.*

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether judgment on the pleadings should be granted is a question of law which a court of appeals reviews *de novo. Freedom from Religion Foundation, Inc. v. Thompson*, 164 Wis. 2d 736, 741, 476 N.W.2d 318 (Ct. App. 1991).

This appeal involves statutory interpretation. "[S]tatutory

of the statute is plain, we ordinarily stop the inquiry." *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (citations omitted). "Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." *Id.* Statutory language "is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *Id.* ¶ 46. "Where statutory language is unambiguous, there is no need to consult extrinsic sources of interpretation, such as legislative history." *Id.*

At times, a reviewing court may turn to other interpretive aids, like legislative history, just as the Seventh Circuit did in interpreting the DPPA. *See Senne*, 695 F.3d at 607-08.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

There is no dispute between the parties that the DPPA applies to the City and the Newspaper actually seeks redisclosure of protected information. The dispute involves balancing two competing laws.

While it would be easier to produce unredacted records as a matter of course, the City of New Richmond believes the plain language

of the DPPA does not permit blanket disclosure of protected personal information to the public. Any redisclosure of the personal information obtained must be specifically tied to one of the DPPA's fourteen exceptions. Recent federal decisions demand this restrictive approach, which was not anticipated by the Wisconsin Attorney General's earlier contrary opinion on the subject. The Newspaper's request for total access fails to satisfy any of the DPPA exceptions for disclosure.

I. OVERVIEW OF THE DUELING LAWS INVOLVING PERSONAL INFORMATION IN MOTOR VEHICLE RECORDS AND ACCESS TO PUBLIC RECORDS

Summary: Where federal and state statutes governing privacy of information and public records access intersect, deference should be given to federal court case law providing interpretive guidance that is restrictive of releasing private information.

A. The Driver's Privacy Protection Act

To obtain a driver's license or register for a vehicle, state DMVs require an individual to disclose detailed personal information, including name, home address, telephone number, Social Security number, and medical information. *Spears*, **133 S.Ct. at 2198**.

Congress passed the DPPA to address "safety and security concerns associated with excessive disclosures of personal information held by the State in motor vehicle records." *Senne,* 695 F.3d at 607. As the Supreme Court observed:

Public concern regarding the ability of criminals and stalkers to obtain information about potential victims prompted Congress in 1994 to enact the DPPA. A particular spur to action was the 1989 murder of the television actress Rebecca Schaeffer by a fan who had obtained her address from the California DMV.

Spears, **133 S.Ct. at 2213**. *See also id.* **at 2213** ("Congress sought to close what it saw as a loophole caused by state laws allowing requesters to gain access to personal information without a legitimate purpose.").

To address these concerns, "the DPPA establishes a regulatory scheme that restricts the States' ability to disclose a driver's personal information without the driver's consent." *Id.* at 2198 (quotation omitted).

The DPPA's regulatory scheme contains a broad prohibition followed by exceptions, "additional unlawful acts," a civil cause of action, and definitions.

The DPPA contains only five definitions:

- "Motor vehicle record": "any record that pertains to a motor vehicle operator's permit, motor vehicle title, motor vehicle registration, or identification card issued by a department of motor vehicles." 18 U.S.C. § 2725(1).
- "Person": "an individual, organization or entity, but does not include a State or agency thereof." *Id.* § 2725(2).
- "Personal information": "information that identifies an individual, including an individual's photograph, driver identification number, name, address (but not the 5-digit zip code), telephone number, and medical or disability information, but does not include information on vehicular accidents, driving violations, and driver's status." Id. § 2725(3).

- "Highly restricted personal information": "an individual's photograph or image, social security number, medical or disability information." Id. § 2725(4).
- "Express consent": "consent in writing, including consent conveyed electronically..." Id. § 2725(5).

Preventing the City's release of protected information is the DPPA's broad prohibition: "[A] State department of motor vehicles, and any officer, employee, or contractor thereof, shall not knowingly disclose or otherwise make available to any person or entity:" (1) personal information about any individual obtained by the DMV in connection with a motor vehicle record, except as provided in subsection (b); or (2) highly restricted personal information about any individual obtained by the DMV "in connection with a motor vehicle record, without the express consent of the person to whom such information applies, except uses permitted in subsections (b)(1), (b)(4), (b)(6), and (b)(9)." 18 U.S.C. § 2721(a).

The DPPA describes two additional unlawful acts. <u>First</u>, it prohibits "any person" from knowingly obtaining or disclosing personal information from a motor vehicle record for any use not permitted. **18 U.S.C. § 2722(a)**. "Unlawful purpose" is the equivalent of any purpose not permitted under § 2721(b). *See, e.g., Locate.Plus.Com, Inc. v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, **650 N.W.2d 609 (Iowa 2002)**. <u>Second</u>, it "shall be

unlawful for any person to make false representation to obtain any personal information from an individual's motor vehicle record." 18 U.S.C. § 2722 (b).

The DPPA's broad prohibition governs redisclosure by recipients like police departments. *See* 18 U.S.C. § 2721(c); *Senne*, 695 F.3d at 602 (discussing subsection (c) and stating "we are concerned with the secondary act of the Village's police department [in disclosing personal information].")

As a result of this broad prohibition, "personal information" may be accessed only through the DPPA's exceptions found in §2721(b) discussed below. For "highly restricted personal information," there may be access only with "express consent," unless for "uses permitted in subsections (b)(1), (b)(4), (b)(6), and (b)(9)." **18 U.S.C. § 2721(a)**.

The DPPA includes fourteen exceptions. Although not in its original request, the Newspaper invokes three exceptions:

- (1) For use by any government agency, including any court or law enforcement agency, in carrying out its functions, or any private person or entity acting on behalf of a Federal, State, or local agency in carrying out its functions.
- (2) For use in connection with matters of motor vehicle or driver safety and theft....
- (14) For any other use specifically authorized under the law of the State that holds the record, if such use is

related to the operation of a motor vehicle or public safety.

Id. § 2721(b)(1), (2) and (14).

The DPPA creates a private cause of action for any individual whose personal information is unlawfully disclosed. *Id.* § 2724(a). Remedies include (1) actual damages but not less than \$2,500; (2) punitive damages for willful or reckless violations; (3) attorneys' fees and costs; and (4) appropriate preliminary or equitable relief. *Id.* § 2724(b); *see, e.g., Senne,* 695 F.3d at 611 (Posner, J., dissenting) (Village of Palatine faced "a potential liability of some \$80 million in liquidated damages — more than \$1,000 per resident."); *Schierts v. City of Brookfield*, 868 F.Supp.2d 818 (E.D.Wis. 2012) (holding municipality liable for officer's retrieval of personal information through DMV records without permissible use exception).

B. Wisconsin's Public Records Law

Wisconsin encourages a public policy in favor of "the greatest possible information regarding the affairs of government and the official acts of those officers and employees who represent them." **Wis. Stat. § 19.31**.

However, public records access is not absolute. The above policy "shall be construed in every instance with a presumption of complete public access, consistent with the conduct of governmental business."

Id. (emphasis added).

Moreover, the Legislature recognized various limitations to full access. "Except as otherwise provided by law, any requester has a right to inspect any record." Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(a) (emphasis added).

Further, the law limits access to "[a]ny record which is specifically exempted from disclosure by state or federal law...." Wis. Stat. § 19.36(1); see also Osborn v. Bd of Regents of Univ. of Wis. Sys., 2002 WI 83, ¶¶ 13-15, 254 Wis.2d 266, 647 N.W.2d.

Besides the duty to produce records, there is a duty to redact where necessary: "If a record contains information that is subject to disclosure ... and information that is not subject to such disclosure, the authority having custody of the record shall provide the information that is subject to disclosure and delete the information that is not subject to disclosure from the record before release." Wis. Stat. § 19.36(6).

In addition, "whenever federal law or regulations require ... that any record relating to investigative information obtained for law enforcement purposes be withheld from public access, then that information is exempt from disclosure" Wis. Stat. § 19.36(2).

C. Wisconsin's Attorney General's Informal Opinion

The Wisconsin Attorney General issued an Informal Opinion on the interplay between the DPPA and Public Records Law on April 29,

2008. See Wis. Op. Att'y Gen. 1-02-08, 2008 WL 1970575 (April 29, 2008). Although cautioning that it was his office's policy to decline opinions concerning federal statutes administered by federal authorities, the Attorney General nevertheless issued the opinion absent meaningful guidance from the United States Department of Justice. Id. at *1.

The Attorney General acknowledged the specific policy objective of the DPPA was to respond to the growing concern over crimes committed by individuals who used State DMV records to identify and locate victims of crimes. *Id.* at *3. The Attorney General's opinion also observed the following: (1) the DPPA was a legitimate exercise of federal power applicable to Wisconsin; (2) the DPPA restricted a state's ability to disseminate personal information originating from the DPPA; and (3) any disclosure under the Public Records Law must be consistent with the permitted uses under the DPPA. *See id.* at *3-4.

The Attorney General found the DPPA permitted DMVs to disclose personal information from driver records for use by any government agency in carrying out its functions. *Id.* at *5-6. The Attorney General explained that because the DPPA is "structured in terms of permissible uses, those subsequent disclosures properly made by a government agency in the course of carrying out its functions need

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