## **RECEIVED** 02-20-2015

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2014AP001938

NEW RICHMOND NEWS and STEVEN DZUBAY,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

CITY OF NEW RICHMOND,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from St. Croix County Circuit Court The Honorable Howard W. Cameron, Presiding St. Croix County Case No. 13-CV-000163

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFFS-RESPONDENTS

Robert J. Dreps Bar No. 1006643 Dustin B. Brown Bar No. 1086277 Attorneys for Plaintiffs-Respondents

GODFREY & KAHN, S.C. One East Main Street, Suite 500 P.O. Box 2719 Madison, WI 53701-2719 Phone: 608-257-3911

Fax: 608-257-0609

###

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

This appeal is not, as the City claims, about "balancing two competing laws." City Br. at 10. There is no balancing<sup>3</sup> to perform: Wisconsin law expressly mandates broad access to government records, subject to exceptions specifically provided by law, and the DPPA imposes only a "targeted restriction" on "the acquisition of personal information from a single, isolated source." *Dahlstrom*, 2015 WL 481097, at \*8. Wisconsin long ago deferred to the DPPA's targeted restriction by terminating the DMV's sale of personal information to marketers and anyone else who asked. However, the Public Records Law does not conflict with the DPPA with respect to law enforcement reports; rather, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Department did not deny the Newspaper's request based on the common law balancing test. App. at 7. The issue is federal preemption. *See* § II below.

DPPA expressly defers to state law as to the disclosures at issue here.

The City's hyperbolic insistence that the Newspaper is demanding "total access" or "blanket disclosure" is not only incorrect but confuses the issues. City Br. at 11, 31.4 The Newspaper's request is narrow: it seeks access to unredacted reports of law enforcement agencies that concern the performance of official duties. Only three such records are at issue here, and there is no evidence that Congress intended to preempt Wisconsin's authority to open them to public inspection as a means to hold law enforcement officers and agencies accountable for their official acts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> So, too, is the City's repeated references to "highly restricted information," like social security numbers, which does not appear in any of the records at issue. City Br. at 13, 30, 31.

# I. MULTIPLE EXCEPTIONS TO THE DPPA PERMIT THE DISCLOSURE OF LAW ENFORCEMENT RECORDS PURSUANT TO WISCONSIN'S OPEN RECORDS LAW.

The circuit court and attorney general both concluded, correctly, that the DPPA's "agency functions" exception allows the Department to disclose all three disputed records, without redacting personal information, because doing so fulfills an agency function expressly mandated by state law. They also found several additional provisions of the DPPA specific to motor vehicle safety authorize the disclosure of the two Uniform Traffic Accident Reports, again without redacting personal information. These conclusions are correct as a matter of law, and the circuit court should be affirmed.

A. The "Agency Functions" Exception Allows the Department to Disclose Personal Information in Carrying Out its Functions Under the Public Records Law.

# 1. The plain language of the "agency functions" exception supports its application here.

The DPPA's "agency functions" exception permits disclosure of personal information "[f]or use by any government agency, including any court or law enforcement agency, in carrying out its functions." 18 U.S.C. § 2721(b)(1) (emphasis added). The exception is broad: it applies to any agency at any level of government and requires only that the information be used by the agency "in carrying out its functions." It is also specific, singling out courts and law enforcement agencies since they are most likely to use DMV records in the course of their duties. Congress did not define or limit the "functions" for which a law enforcement agency or court may use or redisclose personal information from DMV records.

Defining agency functions is a matter of state law, and Wisconsin's Public Records Law could not be more explicit:

It is "an *essential function* of a representative government" to furnish the public with information "regarding the affairs of government and the official acts of those officers and employees who represent them." Wis. Stat. § 19.31 (emphasis added). Like every other law enforcement agency in this state, the Department is an "authority" subject to the Public Records Law and shares the responsibility to carry out that "essential function." *See* Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1) (defining "authority").

The City misconstrues the "agency functions" exception by arguing it requires the Newspaper to show how *it* intends to "use" the personal information included in the reports at issue. City Br. at 25. Quite the contrary, Congress expressly intended this exception to authorize the "use" of personal information "by any government agency . . . in carrying out its functions." 18 U.S.C. § 2721(b)(1). By releasing incident and accident reports in response to a public

records request, a Wisconsin law enforcement agency "uses" the personal information within its reports to carry out its *statutorily mandated* function to provide "all persons . . . the greatest possible information [concerning] . . . the official acts of [its] officers." Wis. Stat. § 19.31.

The public's right to monitor "the official acts" of law enforcement officials would be eviscerated if personal information had to be removed from reports before disclosure. The public could not verify and, conversely, law enforcement officials could not demonstrate that traffic and criminal laws are fairly enforced, without favoritism, against all persons. Congress never intended the DPPA to preclude the routine operation of this vital state policy. As the Wisconsin Supreme Court has recognized, "the process of police investigation is one where public oversight is important":

The ability of police to investigate suspected crimes is an official

responsibility of an executive government agency, and much like the ability to arrest, it represents a significant use of government personnel, time, and resources. The investigative process is one that, when used inappropriately, can be harassing or worse.

Linzmeyer v. Forcey, 2002 WI 84, ¶ 27, 254 Wis. 2d 306, 646 N.W.2d 811 (citation omitted); see also Newspapers, Inc. v. Breier, 89 Wis. 2d 417, 435-36, 279 N.W.2d 179 (1979) (This "strong public-policy interest . . . is particularly significant where arrest records are concerned"); State ex rel. Journal/Sentinel, Inc. v. Arreola, 207 Wis. 2d 496, 515, 558 N.W.2d 670 (Ct. App. 1996) ("The public has a compelling interest in monitoring the use of deadly force by police officers . . . .").

The redaction of names and addresses from routine law enforcement reports like those at issue here would, as the attorney general's 2008 opinion notes, "subvert the important governmental objective of facilitating public oversight of

police" conduct. App. at 17. Nothing in the DPPA or its legislative history indicates any congressional intent to end this longstanding state policy.

The City never disputes that state law can define and mandate a local law enforcement agency's functions, but it argues the Department's statutory disclosure duties somehow do not qualify as "government agency . . . functions" under 18 U.S.C. § 2721(b)(1). It expressly acknowledges that "police departments perform a legitimate law enforcement function when they discharge their statutory duty to investigate and report on traffic accidents," as Wis. Stat. § 346.70(4)(a) requires, while denying that they perform a legitimate law enforcement function when disclosing those reports to the public under subsection (4)(f) of the same statute. City Br. at 29. There is, of course, no principled basis to distinguish among a law enforcement agency's statutory duties under 18 U.S.C. § 2721(b)(1). All statutory

duties qualify as agency functions, exempt from the DPPA's prohibition, as the attorney general and circuit court correctly concluded.

2. The City relies on inapposite federal case law to argue for a limited reading of the "agency functions" exception.

Since the DPPA itself never defines an agency's "functions," the City turns to the dictionary: a "function" is an "activity that is appropriate to a particular business or profession," an "office[ or] duty," or "the occupation of an office." City Br. at 26 (quoting Black's Law Dictionary 787 (10th ed. 2014)). The Newspaper agrees—responding to open records requests is a function—*i.e.* a "duty" of or "activity that is appropriate" to—the Department. Indeed, the City's definition is far more expansive than the attorney general's interpretation that "the 'functions' of a state

governmental agency . . . include, at a minimum, *all duties imposed by state law*." App. at 16 (emphasis added).

The City cites this definition only to ignore it, however, arguing instead that the circuit court should have deferred "to federal guidance" and adopted "a more restrictive reading of this exception." City Br. at 26. To support its "restrictive reading," the City relies on *Spears* and *Senne*—neither of which addressed the disclosure of law enforcement records in compliance with a state public records law.

Spears deals with a different exception—authorizing disclosure of personal information for "use in connection with any . . . proceeding . . . , including . . . investigation in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This is wrong on two levels: neither the DPPA's text nor anything in *Senne* or *Spears* suggests Congress intended a restrictive reading of "government agency... functions" in exception (b)(1), especially for courts and law enforcement agencies. Moreover, federal preemption principles preclude finding congressional intent to override, by implication alone, state laws governing disclosure of law enforcement reports. *See* § II below.

anticipation of litigation," 18 U.S.C. § 2721(b)(4)—that has no bearing here. Recognizing that "connections, like relations, stop nowhere," the Court insisted that the language "in connection with" "must have a limit" and determined "that an attorney's solicitation of prospective clients falls outside of that limit." *Spears*, 133 S. Ct. at 2200 (internal quotation marks omitted). This court does not need to consider the outer limits of the "agency functions" exception at issue here, however, because it must "include, at a minimum, all duties imposed by state law," as the attorney general concluded. App. at 16.

The City draws from *Spears* the lesson that "the conduct of the requester must be examined." City Br. at 28. But the "requester" here is the Department, which first obtained personal information from the DMV based on the "agency functions" exception, which authorizes the "use [of personal information] *by any government agency* . . . in

carrying out its functions." 18 U.S.C. § 2721(b)(1) (emphasis added). The same exception authorizes the Department to fulfill its obligations under the Public Records Law and Wis. Stat. § 346.70(4)(f). No further explanation or justification for redisclosure is necessary when a government agency uses personal information to fulfill a statutory duty.

Neither *Spears* nor *Senne* dealt with a scenario in which the disclosure was mandated by state law. *Senne* involved a *voluntary* disclosure of personal information, since no statute required the Village of Palatine to serve parking tickets in a manner that publicly exposed that information. <sup>6</sup> That is why the court required the Village to explain and justify on remand how each item of personal information it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Nor did any law require the Village to include a vehicle owner's height and weight on the citation. The Newspaper agrees that "it is difficult to see a law enforcement purpose for disclosing a person's height and weight to a newspaper, City Br. at 31, but none of the records at issue here included such personal data. If they did, it would properly be redacted under the common law balancing test, not the DPPA.

disclosed "actually was used in effectuating" a law enforcement function. 695 F.3d at 608. Here, by stark contrast, state law both mandates disclosure and explains the permissible purpose—the records at issue are presumptively open to public inspection so the public can hold law enforcement officers and agencies accountable for their official acts. See Wis. Stat. § 19.31.

Far more relevant is the Seventh Circuit's recent decision in *Dahlstrom*, which arose from a newspaper's reporting about the Chicago Police Department's investigation of a man's death following an altercation with the former mayor's nephew, R.J. Vanecko. *Dahlstrom*, 2015 WL 481097, at \*1. The department declined to recommend charges against Vanecko after witnesses failed to identify him from a lineup in which five Chicago police officers served as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Dahlstrom was decided February 6, 2015, after the City filed its initial brief in this appeal.

"fillers." The *Chicago Sun-Times* questioned the lineup's validity in a story highlighting "the physical resemblance between Vanecko and the lineup 'fillers' in an effort to demonstrate that the Officers resembled Vanecko too closely for the lineup to be reliable." *Id*.

The officers named in the article filed suit claiming the *Sun-Times* violated the DPPA "by acquiring and publishing" personal details that it "knowingly obtained" from "motor vehicle records maintained by the Secretary of State".—

namely "the months and years of [the officers'] birth, their heights, weights, hair colors, and eye colors." *Id.* at \*1-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In Illinois, the Secretary of State performs the functions of a state department of motor vehicles. *See* 625 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/2-101 (2015) (vesting the Secretary of State "with powers and duties and jurisdiction of administering Chapters 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 of The Illinois Vehicle Code"); 625 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/2-106 ("The Secretary of State shall prescribe or provide suitable forms of applications, certificates of title, registration cards, driver's licenses and such other forms requisite or deemed necessary to carry out the provisions of this Act and any other laws pertaining to vehicles the enforcement and administration of which are vested in the Secretary of State.").

The newspaper also obtained lineup photographs and the names of each officer used as a "filler" from the Chicago Police Department pursuant to a request under the Illinois Freedom of Information Act. *Id.* at \*1.

The court ruled that determining the *source* of the information at issue is critical in applying the DPPA.

The DPPA proscribes only the publication of personal information that has been obtained from motor vehicle records. The origin of the information is thus crucial to the illegality of its publication . . . .

Id. at \*9. Even the plaintiff officers did not challenge the publication of their photographs or names, information they conceded was "lawfully obtained . . . pursuant to [a] FOIA request." Id. at \*2. The court agreed, noting in rejecting the newspaper's First Amendment defense that much of the personal information it unlawfully obtained from the DMV "can be gathered from physical observation of the Officers or

from other lawful sources (including, of course, a state FOIA request) . . . . " *Id.* at \*8.

In short, none of the "federal guidance" the City claims to follow alters the attorney general's thorough assessment of this issue in his 2008 opinion. City Br. at 26. The City's criticisms of this opinion are unfounded. The City disputes his conclusion that the term "functions" includes "all duties imposed by state law," *id.* at 32, but how could it not? Are statutory mandates not "functions" under the City's own definition? Of course they are. This court should adopt the attorney general's straightforward analysis:

Just like writing the report or citation, responding to a related public records request is a function of the law enforcement agency. *Cf.* Wis. Stat. § 19.31. The DPPA does not require redaction of the personal information from law enforcement records provided in response to the public records request.

App. at 17.

## B. The Accident Reports and Similar Records Related to Motor Vehicle or Driver Safety Are Exempt from the Prohibition.

Additional provisions of the DPPA and Wisconsin law support the disclosure of accident reports and other records related to motor vehicle safety, which account for two of the three records at issue here. The attorney general and circuit court both concluded that "personal information" contained in accident reports and driving citations is excluded from the DPPA's definition of that term, and is properly disclosed under exception 18 U.S.C. § 2721(b)(14) in any event. *See* App. at 18-19, 44.9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The circuit court did not address the attorney general's further conclusion that exception (b)(2) also authorizes the disclosure of personal information in Uniform Traffic Citations and Uniform Traffic Accident Reports. *See* App. at 18.

The DPPA expressly excludes "information on vehicular accidents" from its definition of "personal information":

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